# RECEIVED

## 12-21-2018

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEALS

### DISTRICT IV

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Case No. 2018AP1601-CR

Caleb J. Hawley,

Defendant-Appellant.

## ON APPEAL OF THE CIRCUIT COURT'S JUDGMENTS OF CONVICTION AND ORDERS DENYING SENTENCE CREDIT, THE HONORABLE JOSEPH G. SCIASCIA PRESIDING, IN DODGE COUNTY CASE 2015-CM-216

### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT CALEB J. HAWLEY

RYAN MCNAMARA State Bar No. 1053053

P.O. Box 1857 Madison, WI 53701-1857 608-467-0331 phone

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

1. Was denial of sentence credit during a 14 month stay of sentence until completion of Mr. Hawley's jail as a condition of probation supported by a later finding that the stay was for legal cause?

The trial court ruled: Yes.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The appellant does not request oral argument. Briefs will fully develop and explain the issues pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.22(2)(b). If the court deems oral argument helpful in addressing the claims, the appellant has no objection.

#### STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Publication is appropriate in this case pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a)(1). The Court should clarify that legal clause cannot support a stay of sentence that is impermissible under other provisions of the sentencing and probation statutes. On August 27, 2018, this Court ordered Mr. Hawley's motion for a 3-judge panel in abeyance pending completion of briefing.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The trial court ordered a jail report date 14 months after sentencing, coinciding with defendant Caleb J. Hawley's completion of jail as a condition of probation in other cases. (App. 122-123; 44:18-19). The trial court later ruled that the stay was supported by legal cause under Wis. Stat. § 973.15(8)(a). (App. 135; 45:10).

Mr. Hawley pleaded no contest in Dodge County Case 2015-CM-216, the Honorable Judge Joseph G. Sciascia presiding, to two counts of theft/false representation contrary to Wis. Stat. § 943.20(1)(d) as a repeater. (App. 101-102; 19:1-2). He deceived two businesses into donating \$25 each on behalf of a sick person but kept the money for himself. (App. 108; 44:4). The court withheld sentence and placed Mr. Hawley on probation for a period of 24 months on December 22, 2015. (App. 101-102; 19:1-2).

At the time of this conviction, Mr. Hawley was on probation in Columbia County Case 2011-CF-97. (App. 109; 44:5). The Department of Corrections later revoked his supervision on this Dodge County Case and the Columbia County Case based on new charges in Dane and Columbia Counties. (App. 127-128; 45:2-3).

Mr. Hawley pleaded no contest to two counts in Columbia County Case 2016-CF-41. (App. 127-128; 45:2-3). He served a 90 day sentence from August 10, 2016 to October 15, 2016, and a 120 day sentence from October 16, 2016 to January 14, 2017, earning good time credit. (Id).

He pleaded guilty to criminal charges in Dane County Cases 2016-CF-1100 and 2016-CF-1360 on October 28, 2016. (App. 128-129; 45:3-4). The Dane County sentencing court placed him on probation, with 12 months of jail forthwith as a condition of supervision in 2016-CF-1360 and 6 months additional months of jail as a condition of supervision in 2016-CF-1100. (App. 122-123; 44:18-19).

While serving his conditional time in Dane County, Mr. Hawley faced sentencing after revocation on November 3, 2016 in Columbia County Case 2011-CF-97, receiving a consecutive sentence of 120 days. (App. 130; 45:5). Mr. Hawley later successfully moved for time served sentencing credit in 2011-CF-97 from January 15, 2017 to January 24, 2017, consecutive to completion of his sentence in 2016-CF-41 (App. 130-131; 45-5-6).

Following probation revocation in this Dodge County Case, Mr. Hawley faced sentencing before the Honorable Judge Sciascia on February 10, 2017. (App. 103; 25:1). The trial court found that three months of jail consecutive on each of the two counts was the appropriate sentence. (App. 118-120; 44:14-16). The State originally called for the sentence to begin forthwith. (App. 121; 44:17). The court wanted the sentence to be consecutive to the jail in Dane County. (Id.).

Defense counsel pointed out that the Dane County jail as a condition of probation was not a sentence, and the court agreed that its sentence could not be consecutive to the jail time. (App. 121-122; 44:17-18). Instead of ordering the sentence to commence forthwith, the court ordered that the sentence would start on April 20, 2018, Mr. Hawley's scheduled release date from conditional jail time in Dane County. (App. 122-123; 44:18-19).

On February 6, 2018, Mr. Hawley, by new counsel, moved the court to commence the sentence and earn sentence credit from February 10, 2017 onward, amounting to time served. (App. 176-177; 29:1-2). The court held a motion hearing on March 7, 2018. (App. 106-143; 45). The defense argued that at the time of sentencing after revocation, Mr. Hawley was in custody only for jail as a condition of probation in Dane County. (App. 130-132; 45:5-7). The trial court agreed that a sentence cannot be ordered consecutive to jail as a condition of probation. (App. 133; 45:8).

The State argued that the trial court was aware at the time of sentencing that it could not order its jail sentence to be consecutive to the Dane county jail as a condition of probation. (App. 135; 45:10). The State argued that the court gave a report date of April 20, 2018 for legal cause. (Id.).

The trial court recognized that under Wis. Stat. § 973.15(8)(a), it could stay execution of a sentence for legal cause. (App. 136; 45:11). It then stated:

> The question is whether there is legal cause. If the sentence is consecutive to any other sentence previously imposed and he is doing conditional jail and we want it to start after his conditional jail, that seems to be legal cause to me, but I'm not claiming to be an expert on what is or isn't legal cause under these circumstances.

(App. 137; 45:12). Based on a judicial note, the trial court reasoned that if a stay pending appeal can be legal cause, completion of conditional time should also be legal cause for a stay. (App. 138; 45:13). The trial court denied the motion and maintained a report date of April 20, 2018. (App. 140; 45:15).

Mr. Hawley filed a motion for reconsideration. (App. 178-80; 31:1-3). A sentence under Wis. Stat. 973.15(2) cannot be consecutive to jail as a condition of probation under *State v. Maron,* 214 Wis. 2d 384, 571 N.W.2d 454, 458 (Wis. App. 1997) (Id.). Defense argued that finding legal cause for such a stay would create an illogical conflict of laws between Wis. Stat. 973.15(2) and 973.15(8)(a). (Id.). Moreover, the Court did not find legal cause for a stay at the sentencing hearing. (Id.). The finding 13 months ex post facto could not justify the stay. (Id.).

The trial court held a hearing on the reconsideration motion on April 20, 2018. (App. 144-175; 46). The State argued that the *Maron* case was not really on point, and that legal cause should allow

the punitive aspects of a sentence that cannot be consecutive to jail as a condition of probation. (App. 153-55; 46:10-12). The defense countered that the *Maron* court said the legislature must change the law if it intends to permit sentences to be consecutive to jail as a condition of probation. (App. 156; 46:13).

The trial court ultimately sided with the State's argument that ensuring enforcement of the sentence is legal cause under *State v. Szulczewski*, 216 Wis. 2d 495, 574 N.W.2d 660 (1998). (App. 161; 46:18). It likened its stay of Mr. Hawley's to a stay to consolidate sentencing matters. (App. 171; 46:28). It found it had the discretion to determine whether or not the sentence should be served immediately upon sentencing or stayed to give effect to the sentence. (Id). Serving a condition of probation that would have frustrated sentencing constituted legal cause to stay the sentence until April 20, 2018. (App. 171-172; 46:28-29).

The trial court encouraged appeal to clarify the concept of legal cause. (App. 161, 166; 46:18, 23). The trial court allowed Mr. Hawley to change his jail report date to May 4, 2018. (App. 173; 46:30). He filed a timely notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief on May 3, 2018 (35). Mr. Hawley reported to jail on May 4, 2018 as ordered and remained in custody until June 19, 2018, when the trial court granted a stipulated motion to stay the sentence pending appeal. (39:1-5).

#### ARGUMENT

### SENTENCE CREDIT IS DUE BECAUSE THE STAY OF SENTENCE VIOLATED WISCONSIN LAW AND MUST BE VOIDED

#### A. Summary

Mr. Hawley must earn sentence credit from the date of sentencing because a 14 month stay designed to pause execution of a sentence while a defendant served jail as a condition of probation violated the sentencing statute and cannot be supported by Wisconsin's limited concept of legal cause.

#### B. Standard of Review

This case involves interpretation of the sentencing statute, specifically Wis. Stat. §§ 973.09, 973.15(1), and 973.15(8)(a). The interpretation of a statute presents a question of law, which we review de novo. *State v. Woods*, 173 Wis. 2d 129, 136, 496 N.W.2d 144, 147 (Wis. App. 1992).

### C. Discussion of Applicable Law

Courts have no inherent power to stay execution of a sentence in a criminal case in the absence of statutory authority except for the limited purpose of affording relief against the sentence itself. *Drewniak v. State ex rel. Jacquest*, 239 Wis. 475, 484, 1 N.W.2d 899 (1942). Wis. Stat. § 973.15(8)(a), sets forth exceptions to the rule that all sentences commence at noon on the day of sentence and provides that a sentencing court may stay the execution of a sentence of imprisonment in three circumstances: (1) for legal cause, (2) to place the person on probation to the DOC under § 973.09(1)(a) or (3) for not more than 60 days. See *State v. Szulczewski*, 216 Wis. 2d 495, ¶12, 574 N.W.2d 660 (1998).

"[L]egal cause" means that a stay or release on bail is appropriate only when the defendant has the right to pursue within the Wisconsin court system some relief against the sentence or conviction. *State v. Shumate*, 107 Wis. 2d 460, 465, 319 N.W.2d 834 (1982). [I]t seems clear that "legal cause," for purposes of section 973.15(8)(a), should be given the narrow interpretation given that term by the supreme court in *Shumate*. 76 Op. Att'y Gen. 165, 167 (1987); (App. 183, 185).

In construing a statute, the entire section and related sections are to be considered in its construction or interpretation. State v. Clausen, 105 Wis. 2d231.244.313N.W.2d 819. (1982).Furthermore, a statute should be construed to give effect to its leading idea, and the entire statute should be brought into harmony with the statute's purpose. Id. Sections of statutes relating to the same subject matter must be construed together. Id.

the ordinary rules Under of statutory should be interpretation statutes reasonably construed to avoid conflict. See Law Enforcement Standards Bd. v. Village of Lyndon Station, 101 Wis. 2d 472, 489-90, 305 N.W.2d 89 (1981). When two statutes conflict, a court is to harmonize them, scrutinizing both statutes and construing each in a manner that serves its purpose. See *Bingenheimer v.* DHSS, 129 Wis. 2d 100, 107, 383 N.W.2d 898 (1986).

Probation is not a sentence and, therefore, jail time served as a condition of probation is not a sentence. See *State v. Hays*, 173 Wis. 2d 439, 444, 496 N.W.2d 645 (Wis. App. 1992). Wis. Stat. § 973.15(2) does not permit a court to order a sentence to be served consecutive to jail time imposed as a condition of probation. *State v. Maron*, 214 Wis. 2d 384, 395, 571 N.W.2d 454, 458 (Wis. App. 1997).

#### D. Sentence Credit Must Be Granted

The stay of sentence in this case must be voided as it is beyond the trial court's statutory authority. See *Drewniak*, 239 Wis. at 489. Legal cause is a judicial power with specific, limited application. See *Shumate*, 107 Wis. 2d at 467. The trial court did not have legal cause to stay the sentence for 14 months, so Mr. Hawley should earn sentence credit from the day of sentencing, February 10, 2017, amounting to time served on for his two consecutive three month sentences.

Prior to 1981, what constituted legal cause for the stay of execution of sentence had not been defined in detail. See *State v. Braun*, 100 Wis. 2d 77, 85, 301 N.W.2d 180 (1981). Wis. Stat. § 973.15(8)(a) codified legal cause in 1981. (App. 181).

Historically, it has been recognized that a stay pending appeal is appropriate, see *Reinex v. State*, 51 Wis. 152, 8 N.W. 155 (1881), and stays of execution have been allowed in other situations, see, e. g., *Weston v. State*, 28 Wis. 2d 136, 135 N.W.2d 820 (1965). *Braun*, 100 Wis. 2d at 85. However, a stay of execution for the purpose of personally accommodating a criminal defendant has never been sanctioned. *Id.* Such a stay is not for legal cause. *Id.* 

The Wisconsin Legislature responded to the *Braun* ruling, passing 1981 Assembly Bill 736 to create Wis. Stat. § 973.15(8). (App. 181). This law authorized judges to stay sentences for up to 60 days to accommodate defendants. The Legislative note echoes the *Braun* opinion:

Note: Subsection (8) has been added to specify the circumstances under which execution of a sentence of imprisonment may be stayed. Paragraph (a) references the rule of *Reinex v. State*, 51 Wis. 152 (1881) and Weston v. State, 28 Wis. 2d 136 (1965), whereby execution can be stayed for "legal cause", such as during the pendency of an appeal. Paragraph (b) cross-references the probation statute. Paragraph (c) is new. It allows the court to delay the commencement of a sentence for up to 60 days. The Wisconsin Supreme Court recently held that courts have no authority to stay execution of a sentence of imprisonment in the absence of such a statutory provision or legal cause. State v. Braun, 100 Wis. 2d 77 (1981).

(App. 181). Therefore, the legal cause statute authorizes stays of a sentence pending appeal and short stays to consolidate sentencing of one defendant on multiple charges.

A defendant appealed and filed for a stay of execution of his sentence in the Wisconsin Supreme Court. *Reinex v. State*, 51 Wis. 152, 8 N.W. 155 (1881). The Supreme Court found that both it and the trial court had the power to grant a stay pending appeal. *Id.* However, it dismissed the motion because the trial court is better suited to exercise its power to issue a stay of sentence pending appeal, being more familiar with the case. *Id.* 

A trial court did not have authority for its multiple stays of the execution of the sentence for the purpose of having a defendant available to testify at some future session of the grand jury. *Drewniak*, 239 Wis. at 482; 89. The defendant was convicted in Waukesha County of a criminal conspiracy related to slot machines on July 19, 1938. *Id.*, p. 477. He appealed, and his conviction was affirmed, with remittitur back to the trial court on February 1, 1939. *Id.* Instead of serving his six month sentence, the circuit court issued multiple stays of sentence for the defendant to appear as a witness in grand jury proceedings until March 15, 1940. *Id.*, pp. 477-478. The defendant and other co-defendants filed orders to show cause and then writs of error. *Id.* The defendants surrendered on January 24, 1941 and immediately filed writs of habeas corpus in Milwaukee County, obtaining release on January 31, 1941. *Id.*, pp 478-479.

The Supreme Court ultimately found that the Waukesha County trial court had exceeded its authority for a stay once the appeal expired. *Drewniak*, 239 Wis. at 489. The later stays of sentence were a nullity. *Id.* The defendant's sentence continued to run and expired six months from February 1, 1939, the date of remittitur after unsuccessful appeal, despite serving approximately a week in custody. *Id.* 

The *Drewniak* Court reviewed Federal and State precedent, focusing on separation of powers discussed in Ex parte United States, 242 U.S. 27, 37 S.Ct. 72 (1916); and *In re Webb*, 89 Wis. 354, 62 N.W. 177 (1895). Drewniak, 239 Wis. at 486. All of the cases recognize the fact, that for what in the Webb case is called legal cause, the court may grant temporary stays. *Id.* Such stays, however, can only be granted for good cause, having to do with the sentence itself, and not on grounds which have no relation to the action in which the sentence is pronounced and are more properly for the consideration of the governor, in whom the power to pardon is vested, rather than the judiciary. Id.

A circuit court had no authority to grant a suspension of defendant Webb's six month jail sentence until further order of the court. *Webb*, 62 N.W. at 177. [T]he period of imprisonment, in contemplation of law, commenced March 16, 1894, when the defendant was in custody and failed to pay the fine imposed against him, and he could not be lawfully imprisoned after it had expired. *Id.*, p. 179. The court order of October 12, 1894 committing Webb to jail for up to six months, was not merely erroneous; in making it, the court exceeded its jurisdiction. *Id.* The petitioner's demurrer to the respondent's return must be sustained, and he is entitled to be discharged from custody. *Id.* 

In *Ex Parte United States*, the U.S. Supreme Court in effect held a stay void because it was unconstitutional—that is, that the court by way of granting a stay was in fact exercising a power that belonged to the executive, not to the judiciary. *Drewniak*, 239 Wis. at 488. It clearly indicated that the power of the trial court to stay execution was limited to a temporary purpose having relation in some legal way to the sentence. *Id.* When the trial court goes beyond that limit and stays execution of sentence for reasons having no relation to the sentence, it exceeds its power and its act is void. *Id.* It invades the legislative field as well as that of the executive. *Id.* 

There the U.S. Supreme Court pointed out that ultimately a court's power was limited by the doctrine of separation of powers. See *Shumate*, 107 Wis. 2d at 466. Under that doctrine, power is assigned to the legislature to enact laws, to define crimes, and to fix the degree and method of punishment; to the judiciary is assigned the power to try offenses under the law and to impose punishment within the limits set by the legislature; and to the executive is assigned the power to relieve from the punishment fixed by law. *Id.* 

The inherent power of a circuit court to stay execution of a sentence for legal cause does not include the power to stay sentence while a collateral attack is being made on the conviction by habeas corpus proceedings in the federal court system. *Shumate*, 107 Wis. 2d at 464. Once a defendant has exhausted all remedies in this court system, the trial court has no choice but to remand the defendant immediately to the executive authority of the state for incarceration. *Id.*, p. 466. The Wisconsin Statutes do not authorize such a stay, and the federal system has both the power and is better positioned to rule on a stay. *Id.*, p. 469.

A stay after conviction where not sanctioned by the narrow exceptions of the statute or common law directly contravenes the public policy stated by the legislature. See *Braun*, 100 Wis. 2d at 86-87. Since the Judicial Council Note makes specific reference to *Braun*, it seems clear that "legal cause," for purposes of section 973.15(8)(a), should be given the narrow interpretation given that term by the supreme court in *Shumate*. 76 Op. Att'y Gen. 165, 167 (1987); (App. 185).

The Wisconsin Supreme Court held that a two day stay of execution of a sentence to consolidate sentencing matters was within a trial court's jurisdiction. *Weston*, 28 Wis. 2d at 147. The court arraigned Weston on murder and two charges of armed burglary. *Id.*, p. 141. The burglary charges were continued pending the murder trial. *Id.* A jury returned of verdict of guilty for second-degree murder on Saturday, February 8th. *Id.* 

Weston indicated he was considering a change of plea on the armed burglary charges from not guilty to guilty. *Weston,* 28 Wis. 2d at 141. The court and parties agreed that the burglary charges would be addressed on Monday, February 10th. *Id.* Then the court imposed a sentence of 25 years on the murder conviction, to start as of noon February 8th, but stayed execution of the sentence until February 10th. *Id.* The court was silent on whether the sentence would be consecutive or concurrent. *Id.* 

On February 10th, Weston filed an affidavit of

prejudice against the trial judge for the burglary charges. Weston, 28 Wis. 2d at 141. The court acknowledged the affidavit and directed that the 25 modified vear murder sentence was to run consecutive to any prior sentences. Id. Weston appealed the modification. Id. The Supreme Court held that the trial court retained the jurisdictional authority to determine whether the sentence would run consecutively or concurrently until execution of the sentence. Id., p. 147. Deferring execution or imposition of the sentence for two days in order to consolidate other matters before the same court affecting the same defendant was authorized under the sentencing statutes. Id.

The application of *Weston* is limited. See *Shumate*, 107 Wis. 2d at 465. These were closely related proceedings within the state court system itself, which proceedings could have an effect on the disposition of the very case. *Id.* The Wisconsin Supreme Court has emphasized that the holding in *Weston* must be limited to its precise facts. See *Drinkwater v. State*, 69 Wis. 2d 60, 66, fn. 1, 230 N.W.2d 126 (1975).

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has employed legal cause to reconcile statutory conflict. See *State v. Szulczewski*, 216 Wis. 2d 495, 574 N.W.2d 660 (1998). There, the sentencing statute clashed with Wis. Stat. § 971.17, which governs the custody, care, treatment and discharge of a defendant found not guilty of a crime by reason of mental disease or defect (NGI), committed to the Department of Health and Social Services (DHSS). *Id.*, ¶¶ 8-9. Szulczewski was convicted of battery of another patient at Mendota Mental Health Institute. *Id.*, ¶¶ 4-5. At the time of the incident, he was committed to the DHSS following an NGI disposition of a murder charge. *Id.* 

The circuit court sentenced Szulczewski to five years in prison on the battery charge and ordered

him immediately transferred to the Department of Corrections for assessment and placement in the Wisconsin prison system. *Szulczewski*, ¶ 6. Szulczewski moved for sentence modification, which the circuit court denied. The Court of Appeals affirmed, concluding that immediate commencement of the defendant's prison sentence was required by Wis. Stat. § 973.15. *Id.*, ¶ 7.

The Supreme Court noted that these facts put two chapters of the Wisconsin Statutes at odds. *Szulczewski*, ¶ 10. Wis. Stat. § 971.17 makes no provision for an NGI acquittee in the event the NGI acquittee, like the defendant in this case, is convicted of a crime while under a Chapter 971 commitment. Id. Wis. Stat. § 971.17(1) does not on its face authorize the discharge of an NGI acquittee for imprisonment upon sentence for a crime while § 973.15 requires immediate imprisonment of a convicted defendant, with no exception made expressly for NGI acquittees. Id., ¶ 14. A circuit court's imposition of an immediate sentence under § 973.15(1) would run counter to the requirement in § 971.17 that NGI acquittees be committed to the DHSS until discharged from the commitment under chapter 971. Id.

The purpose of the NGI statute is... two-fold: to treat the NGI acquittee's mental illness and to protect the acquittee and society from the acquittee's potential dangerousness. Szulczewski, ¶ 22, citing State v. Randall, 192 Wis. 2d 800, 833, 532 N.W.2d 94 (1995). The criminal statutes and the resulting judgment of conviction and sentence are, on the other hand, designed to accomplish the objectives of deterrence. rehabilitation. retribution and segregation. Id. Based on the legislature's intent in criminalizing battery by a prisoner under Wis. Stat. § Supreme Court 940.20(1), the concluded the legislature intended NGI acquittees to experience the analogous consequences set forth in the criminal

code. *Id.*, ¶ 25. It is also reasonable to conclude that the legislature intended to effectuate the goals of the NGI statutes, including treatment of an NGI acquittee's mental illness and behavioral disorders, even when an acquittee commits a subsequent criminal offense. *Id.* 

The Supreme Court concluded that a circuit court can harmonize and give effect to both statutes and to the objectives of the legislature if the statutes authorize the circuit court to make a reasoned determination about imposing or staying a prison sentence on the basis of the facts of each case. *Szulczewski*, ¶ 26. Legal cause to stay the sentence gave the trial court the power to weigh the competing objectives of the two statutes. *Id.* Therefore, legal cause helped harmonize a problem of conflicting statutes. *Id.;* See *Bingenheimer*, 129 Wis. 2d at 107.

Unfortunately, the trial court in this case failed to note that the *Szulczewski* Court employed legal cause to reconcile statutory conflict (App. 161-172; 46:18-29). Instead, this case presents a factual situation with no statutory conflict.

Probation under Wis. Stat. § 973.09 is an alternative to a sentence. *Prue v. State*, 63 Wis. 2d 109, 114, 216 N.W.2d 43, 45 (1974). The view that probation is not a sentence and that the imposition of incarceration as a condition of probation is likewise not a sentence has been generally accepted. *Id.*

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