RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

02-27-2019

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2018AP1601-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CALEB J. HAWLEY,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL OF THE CIRCUIT COURT'S
JUDGMENTS OF CONVICTION AND ORDER
DENYING SENTENCE CREDIT, THE HONORABLE
JOSEPH G. SCIASCIA PRESIDING, IN DODGE
COUNTY CASE 2015CM000216.

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

GILBERT G. THOMPSON Assistant District Attorney State Bar #1013424

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

Dodge County District Attorney's Office 210 W Center Street Juneau, Wisconsin 53039-1086 (920) 386-3610 (920) 386-3623 (Fax) gib.thompson@da.wi.gov

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

ARGUMENT

THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT STAYED EXECUTION OF HAWLEY'S SENTENCE AND DENIED HAWLEY'S MOTION FOR SENTENCE CREDIT.

I. The circuit court lawfully stayed execution of Hawley's sentence for legal cause under Wis. Stat. § 973.15(8).

Wisconsin Statute § 973.15(8)(a) authorizes a court to stay a sentence for legal cause. State v. Szulczewski, 216 Wis. 2d 495, 574 N.W.2d 660 (1998). The Wisconsin Supreme Court concluded "that a circuit court can give effect to both statutes and to the objectives of the legislature if the statutes authorize the circuit court to make a reasoned determination about imposing or staying a prison sentence on the basis of the facts of each case." Id. ¶ 26. The legislature has authorized circuit courts to exercise this kind of discretion in staying sentences of imprisonment by providing in Wis. Stat. § 973.15(8)(a) that a court may stay a sentence "[f]or legal cause." Id. ¶ 27. Here, the circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it stayed execution of Hawley's sentence for legal cause.

In this case, Hawley was sentenced after revocation on February 10, 2017. (R. 44) The circuit court ordered Hawley to serve a total of 6 months in jail, 3 months in jail on each count, consecutive to each other and consecutive to any other sentence. (*Id.*) The circuit court specifically noted its reasons for this sentence:

So I find that the appropriate sentence, the minimum amount of time that would do justice to the seriousness of the offense, the need to protect the public, the fact that not one red cent of restitution was paid is... [t]here months on each Count consecutive to each other and consecutive to any other sentence previously imposed.

(R. 44:16) There was discussion between the circuit court, Hawley, and the State about staying the execution of the sentence until after Hawley's conditional jail time in Dane County was served. (R. 44) Everyone was aware of the conditional jail time that Hawley was serving at the time of sentencing and Hawley's prior counsel did not object. (*Id.*) In addition, Hawley requested that he be permitted to serve his Dodge County jail term in Dane County after he was finished serving his conditional jail time in the Dane County cases. (R. 44:19) The circuit court lawfully stayed execution of Hawley's sentence of 6 months in jail until April 20, 2018.

When reviewing Hawley's Motion for Sentence Credit, the circuit court specifically held:

The [c]ourt finds that the purpose of ordering a consecutive sentence is so that the punishment that's imposed in this case is not bundled with some other time that [Hawley's] serving. And if he is serving conditional jail time, that would be legal cause to adjourn the commencement of this sentence.

(R. 45:14)

In Wisconsin, there is no precise or detailed definition of what constitutes "legal cause" for the stay of execution of sentence. *Szulczewski*, 216 Wis. 2d 495; *See also State v. Braun*, 100 Wis. 2d 77, 301 N.W.2d 180 (1981).

Legal cause refers to a stay based on the legality of the conviction or the duty to enforce the sentence, and has been explained as 'good cause, having to do with the sentence itself, and not on grounds which have no relation to the action in which the sentence is pronounced and are more properly for the consideration of the governor, in whom the power to pardon is vested, rather than the judiciary.'

Szulczewski, 216 Wis. 2d 495 ¶ 28 (emphasis added); Drewniak v. State ex rel. Jacquest, 239 Wis. 475, 1 N.W.2d 899 (1942). The State expressed this very point at the April 20,

2018 Motion Hearing on Hawley's Motion to Reconsider. The State informed the circuit court,

[L]egal cause refers to a stay based on the legality of the conviction or the duty to enforce the sentence. And that's what you did back in February '17. You wanted to enforce the sentence of two 90-day consecutive jail sentences and you are not going to be wiped out because he lucked into getting conditional time in Dane County... You want to ensure the duty to enforce the sentence you give.

(R. 46:16-17)

There was also discussion that same hearing regarding examples that courts have previously deemed legal cause. (R. 46)

Historically, a stay pending appeal is a stay for legal cause. See Reinex v. State, 51 Wis. 152, 8 N.W. 155 (1881). A stay to consolidate sentencing matters is also a stay for legal cause. See Weston v. State, 28 Wis.2d 136, 146, 135 N.W.2d 820 (1965). A stay for the purpose of personally accommodating a defendant, however, is not a stay for legal cause. See Braun, 100 Wis.2d at 85, 301 N.W.2d 180.

Szulczewski, 216 Wis. 2d 495 ¶ 29.

In Szulczewski, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held:

Granting a stay of execution of imprisonment for an NGI acquittee is consistent with the teachings of these cases. The 'legal cause' for granting a stay of imprisonment has to do with the sentence itself, not having to do with grounds unrelated to the action in which the sentence is pronounced. See Drewniak, 239 Wis. at 486, 1 N.W.2d 899. A stay under the circumstances of this case is analogous to a stay to consolidate sentencing matters, which has been held to a be a stay for legal cause. See Weston, 28 Wis.2d at 146, 135 N.W.2d 820. The stay has nothing to do with personal accommodation of the defendant. See Braun, 100 Wis.2d at 85, 301 N.W.2d 180. In addition, the decision to grant a stay for an NGI acquittee properly belongs to the judiciary in

exercise of judicial discretion in sentencing rather than to the governor in exercise of the power to pardon. *See Drewniak*, 239 Wis. at 486, 1 N.W.2d 899.

216 Wis. 2d 495 ¶ 30.

The instant issue correlates to the same analysis that the Wisconsin Supreme Court employed in Szulczewski. Although the NGI commitment was not a "sentence," the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that a circuit court could in fact stay execution of a sentence for legal cause until after an NGI commitment was served. Similarly, conditional jail as a term of probation is not a "sentence." However, the circuit court has the discretion to stay execution of a sentence until after a conditional jail term is served based on the legality of the conviction or the duty to enforce the sentence. Szulczewski, 216 Wis. 2d 495; Wis. Stat. § 973.15(8). Moreover, when discussing the Szulczewski holding at the April 20, 2018 Motion Hearing, the circuit court explicitly expressed, "if commitment (sic) under 971.17 constitutes legal cause, the [c]ourt would have the option to impose a sentence of imprisonment immediately or stay execution of the sentence for NGI acquittal. I infer from that a parallel situation applies here and that I would have the authority to stay execution for somebody who is doing a condition of probation." (R. 46:24)

"A sentencing proceeding is not a game, and when a trial court mistakenly imposes a criminal disposition that is not authorized by law, the result should not be a windfall to the defendant." State v. Maron, 214 Wis. 2d 384, 396, 571 N.W.2d 454, 459 (Ct. App. 1997) (emphasis added); State v. Upchurch, 101 Wis. 2d 329, 336, 305 N.W.2d 57, 61 (1981). Meaning, the defendant should not be gifted with a concurrent time served disposition on a revocation because he chose to resolve his cases in the order he believed would allow him to skirt the system and escape additional penalty. The circuit court's intent was clearly to punish Hawley for the

underlying conduct and his inability to comply with the terms of his supervision in Dodge County. At the April 20, 2018 Motion Hearing, the circuit court stated, "[f]rom my standpoint, it's a get out of jail free card. I get out of jail free because I scheduled my plea on one case while I was doing my time on the other and therefore you can't add anything. It's a game." (R. 46:17)

Hawley is treating the Wisconsin Court System like a joke. Not surprisingly, after Hawley was sentenced in the Dane County cases on October 28, 2016, he went back to the circuit court in Columbia County to request sentence credit for time served. In Columbia County Case Number 2016CF000041, Hawley was sentenced on August 9, 2016 to 90 days jail. (R. 45:5) Hawley ultimately convinced the circuit court to grant him sentence credit making similar arguments, asserting that the Columbia County 90 day jail sentence could not be consecutive to the subsequently ordered 18 months of conditional jail in the Dane County cases. (R. 45:5-6) The Columbia County circuit court agreed that since Hawley had already served 81 days and only 9 left to serve on his 90 day jail sentence. (Id.) In light of that, the Columbia County circuit court granted him time served. (Id.) Thus, Hawley escaped serving an additional 90 day jail sentence in that case which is what he is trying to do here. The State recognized this and informed the circuit court in the present case at the March 7, 2018 Motion Hearing, "So she (Hawley's counsel) is trying to recreate history based on whatever success she had in the Columbia County case." (R. 45:11)

A sentencing proceeding is not a game. To grant sentence credit for time served would frustrate the circuit court's intent and purpose in distributing the particular sentence that it ordered. It would undermine the legality of the conviction and the circuit court's duty to enforce the sentence. To grant sentence credit for time served would encourage defendants to manipulate the system and use the

"tricks up our sleeve" as so eloquently stated by Hawley's counsel. (R. 46:16)

II. Should the Court find that the circuit court's stay of sentence execution was unauthorized, the proper remedy is resentencing.

Hawley argues that his sentence should be voided and he should be granted sentence credit. However, the same case that Hawley so heavily relies on states, "[a]s a general rule, resentencing is the proper method to correct a sentence which is not in accord with the law." Maron, 214 Wis. 2d 384, 395; State v. Holloway, 202 Wis. 2d 694, 700, 551 N.W.2d 841, 844 (Ct. App. 1996). The Court of Appeals stated that resentencing was the appropriate remedy - not granting sentence credit for time served. Additionally, "[a] defendant is not entitled to sentence credit for periods of presentence custody during which the defendant was serving an unrelated sentence." State v. Trepanier, 357 Wis. 2d 662, 855 N.W.2d 465 (Ct. App. 2014). Hawley was serving a jail sentence in Columbia County and conditional jail terms in Dane County. Thus, Hawley should not be granted sentence credit in this case for periods of time that he was serving jail terms for different criminal conduct in two other Wisconsin counties prior to his revocation sentence.

Finally, Wisconsin courts have long held that "the statutory purpose is important in discerning the plain meaning of a statute." State v. Wiskerchen, 2019 WI 1 ¶ 21, 385 Wis. 2d 120, 921 N.W.2d 730; Westmas v. Creekside Tree Serv., 2018 WI 12, ¶ 19, 379 Wis. 2d 471, 907 N.W.2d 68l; see also Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 48. Specifically, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held as recently as January 4, 2019 that "statutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." Wiskerchen, 2019 WI 1 ¶ 21 (emphasis added); see also Kalal,

271 Wis. 2d 633 ¶ 46. Therefore, when courts are construing a statute, they "favor a construction that fulfills the purpose of the statute over one that defeats statutory purpose." Wiskerchen, 2019 WI 1 ¶ 21. It would be an absolutely absurd and unreasonable result for Hawley to get sentence credit and not actually have to serve a sentence for getting revoked in this case.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above, the State respectfully asks that this Court affirm the circuit court's denial of Hawley's motion for sentence credit.